HELMINGHAM HALL Suffolk

Proposed New Car Park Application

Appendix 1: Principal Designations and Listings

> Hoare, Ridge & Morris

Architects

Helmingham Hall

Overview

Heritage Category:	Listed Building
Grade:	Ι
List Entry Number:	1033070
Date first listed:	09-Dec-1955
Statutory Address:	HELMINGHAM HALL

<u>Details</u>

HELMINGHAM HELMINGHAM PARK TM 15 NE 4/80 Helmingham Hall 9.12.55

<u>GV I</u>

A large country mansion, built round a courtyard, for Lionel Tollemache (High Sheriff of Suffolk and Norfolk 1512 and 1530; ob. ante 1553). Three major phases of remodelling: c.1745-1760 for the 4th Earl Dysart; c.1800 by John Nash for the 6th Earl; and c.1841, probably by A. Salvin, for John (later 1st Lord) Tollemache. The north, south and east ranges retain substantial parts of the original timber-framed house of which small sections of close-studded and jettied framing are exposed. The exterior is almost entirely encased or rebuilt in C18 and C19 red brick, apart from the upper floor of the south range which is hung with C18 red mathematical tiles above a narrow jetty. Embattled parapets and crowstepped gables. Plaintiled roofs: a number of late C16 and early C17 axial chimneys of red brick with circular and octagonal shafts in groups of 2 or 4. Courtyard plan: a central late C16 gatehouse has a 4-window range at either flank, terminated by set-forward gables. To rear of the courtyard are parallel hall and kitchen ranges; on the east is a C16 range of lodgings; and to west a parlour wing rebuilt in 1841. Windows on the south elevation by Nash have Gothick hoodmoulds and small-pane casements, those at ground storey with transomes. The terminal gables of c.1600 have 2- storey splayed bays with

plastered mullions and transomes and leaded glazing, a broad moulded plaster cornice at 1st and attic floors, and octagonal corner pilasters capped by finials of carved brick which are repeated at the gable apex. These gables form the model for the design of the west front of 1841, the entire motif being repeated, with the introduction of diaper patterning in burnt headers. The mid or late C16 front gatehouse is in narrow bricks with splayed buttresses and a round-arched gateway, which until c.1800 had an entablature with pediment. At that time the corbelled oriel and crowstepped gable were added. An original gateway of c.1530 behind: timber-framed, with a depressed 4-centred arched head with carved spandrels and buttress shafts; a pair of large oak doors with ribbed panels and fine tracery at the head may be a little earlier. The courtyard face, remodelled by Nash, has reinstated a carved timber cill from an oriel window of c.1530. The great hall remains open, with queen post trusses: the arch braces are filled with trefoils, and beneath the tie beams and wall pieces are pendant bosses. Although the details are probably by Nash, the roof may have a C16 core. Much fine interior remodelling in particular the Boudoir of c.1745-60. The house is surrounded by a broad C16 moat with possibly medieval origins; the revetments with low parapets are of C18 red brick. For full details of the house and its history, Country Life: Helmingham Hall, Suffolk: Arthur Oswald; five issues August-October 1956.

3

Helmingham Hall - Park and Garden

Overview

Heritage Category:	Park and Garden
Grade:	Ι
List Entry Number:	1000270
Date first listed:	01-Jun-1984

<u>Details</u>

A walled and moated garden dating from the C16, with C19 and C20 modifications, set in a park of C17 origin enlarged in the mid C18 to its present size.

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT

Prior to the C15 a house known as Creke Hall, the home of the Joyce family, stood on the site of the present Helmingham Hall. In 1487 John Tollemache married Elizabeth Joyce of Helmingham and in 1509 their son Lionel married Elizabeth's niece Edith. Edith succeeded to the estate and together they pulled down the old hall and in 1510 erected the present Helmingham Hall together with a moated garden enclosure and a deer park (Williamson 1995). The garden was developed on the site of an earlier enclosure, originally protected by a wooden palisade. In 1729 Richard Tollemache, a talented surveyor, completed a survey of the Tollemache lands at Helmingham and his map of the same date shows that the old deer park of c 47ha to the north-west of the Hall had been extended to include the 'New Parke' of c 14ha surrounding the Hall. By this time the Tollemaches had become the earls of Dysart and between 1745 and 1760 the fourth Earl made alterations to the exterior of the Hall, added the present stable block and built a wall around the moated garden. In 1800 John Nash (1752-1835) was commissioned to make further alterations to the exterior and an estate map of 1802, together with some late C18 watercolours of the park (private collection), show that by this time the park had been further extended to both north and south to its present size. These paintings depict for the first time The Mount, topped by a summerhouse and surrounded on its slopes by a wilderness. The architect Anthony Salvin (1799-1881) was called in by John Tollemache, later the first Lord Tollemache, in 1840 to make alterations to the garden front of the Hall, whilst in the park the summerhouse on The Mount was replaced by an Obelisk in 1860 (guidebook). During the middle of the C20 the fourth Lord Tollemache was responsible for the renovation and rejuvenation of the Hall and grounds whilst in the 1980s the present Lady Tollemache added two new garden enclosures to the east of the Hall. The site remains (1998) in private ownership.

DESCRIPTION

LOCATION, AREA, BOUNDARIES, LANDFORM, SETTING

Helmingham Hall is located beside the village of Helmingham, c 14km north of Ipswich on the B1077. The park is roughly triangular in shape, covers an area of c 160ha and lies to the north-west of the village. Helmingham village street and the B1077 form the south-east boundary with South Park Farm at the south tip. Agricultural land and Paris Farm lie to the west, Valley Farm to the east, and North Park Farm to the north. The park boundary is open in some places and enclosed by scattered woodland in others. It is more enclosed to the north and east and more open to the west. The whole area has a gently rolling topography, undulating down to a stream which runs across the southern part of the park before rising steeply in the south-east corner to the church. North of the Hall the land is flat, then dips down to another stream before rising again to the boundary of the park. Together this provides a rural setting of mainly agricultural land, dotted with farm settlements and punctuated by small villages. The Hall and park can be seen from the village and the main view from the Hall is south-east down the oak-lined main drive. The Mount is located in the western section of park and from its summit fine views are enjoyed back towards the Hall and in all directions across the park and wider landscape.

ENTRANCES AND APPROACHES The main approach drive enters the park from Helmingham village in the south-east and runs directly to the front

of the Hall. The drive was extended to its present length in 1729 and planted with a double avenue of oak, many of which survive today (1998) (Tollemache survey). Twin red-brick lodges (listed grade II*) with crow-stepped gables are linked to red-brick gate piers by ornamental wrought-iron fencing and central gates (listed grade II*). A branch off the drive turns north-east to skirt the gardens and fishponds before entering the stable block located off the north-east corner of the Hall. A second drive, created c 1820, enters from the eastern boundary, past the gate lodge (Keeper's Cottage), (listed grade II), a two-storey, red-brick and pantile building in Tudor-Revival style, and runs west to the stable block, with a branch off to the south to connect with the front drive. In the garden of the Keeper's Cottage, 20m south of the Hall, stands a thatched and timber-framed Game Larder (listed grade II). This building to the sides and a pyramidal roof.

PRINCIPAL BUILDING

Helmingham Hall (listed grade I), which sits in the south-east quarter of the park, was completed in 1510 for Lionel Tollemache, the High Sheriff of Norfolk and Suffolk. It is one of the largest moated houses in Suffolk. Built in a courtyard plan, it is completely surrounded by a broad C16 moat and is reached by two working drawbridges. The Hall is constructed of red brick with redtile roofs and much of the original two-storey, timber-framed house remains beneath exterior reworking of a number of phases. It has embattled parapets and crow-stepped gables on all sides and many circular or octagonal chimneys, arranged singly and in groups of four. The south-east or gateway front retains the remodelling undertaken during the Georgian period, with a four-window range and gothic hoodmoulds on either side of the round-arched gateway all added by Nash c 1800. The original terminal gables on each corner formed the model for the redesign of the south-west (or garden) front by Anthony Salvin in 1840 which also incorporates diaper patterning in the brickwork. The moat has C18 red-brick revetments (listed grade II) and an obelisk at each corner, surmounting a square pier. In the centre of the south-east side is a cast-iron bridge by Nash, with octagonal brick piers and open arcaded balustrade. A

second near-identical bridge spans the north-east arm near its northern end, with octagonal terminal piers also by Nash.

GARDENS AND PLEASURE GROUNDS

The gardens and pleasure grounds at Helmingham cover c 3ha, of which 0.75ha is kitchen garden. They lie to the north-east and south-west of the Hall, the main garden front being to the south-west. The south-west garden is moated and is reached by a wide grass causeway. The garden is walled on three sides (north-west, south-west and south-east) but open to the north-east; some enclosure is however provided by a cross wall running north/south through the centre of the garden, behind which lies the kitchen garden. The moated enclosure is thought to predate the Hall and may therefore have been associated with the earlier Creke Hall (guidebook), but the walls (listed grade II) were added in 1749 by Robert Rodwell, bricklayer to the fourth Earl Dysart. The open north-east end of the garden faces the Hall and is newly planted (1990s) with elaborate box knots cut into the lawn and filled with santolina. The deep borders against the cross wall contain musk roses and old quince and mulberry trees. The knots are decorated with two early C19 urns (listed grade II) and a bronze C19 sundial on a limestone plinth (listed grade II) sits at the entrance to the garden, the dial being intricately inscribed to include the Tollemache arms. The grass walk dividing the Hall moat from the garden moat is terminated in the south-east by a female statue carved in limestone. This is paired in the north-west by a male statue holding a wolf's head in his left hand (both listed grade II). Along the inner banks of the moat is a spring border to the south-east and a summer border to the south-west, whilst the north-west, south-west and south-east banks contain large, dome-clipped yews. Mature cedar of Lebanon grace the outer banks. Beyond the moat to the north-west is an apple walk of early C20 origins, and to the south-west is a hard tennis court, beyond which lies a wild-flower meadow beneath the remains of orchard trees. This area was shown as orchard on the 1729 Tollemache survey. Beyond the south-east bank of the moat lies the Shrubbery Walk, an area of mixed ornamental tree and shrub planting, with walks lined by mature yew and box.

To the north-east of the Hall are two newly planted garden enclosures, designed by Lady Tollemache and Lady Salisbury in 1982. Arranged around an axial path, they consist of a formal garden of clipped box knots in the Tudor style filled with herbs, and a geometric pattern of borders filled with old roses and bulbs. To the south-east is a small enclosed private garden with pavilion and swimming pool (late C20). The whole is surrounded by fine yew hedges and beyond it to the north-east is a fishpond, known as the Coach-house Pond, set into lawn with some fine mature, early C19 oaks.

PARK The park at Helmingham is a gently rolling landscape which today (1998) covers the same area as that shown in the 1802 Johnson survey. It is partially surrounded by tree belts and clearly shows, both in the positions of trees and in the surviving earthworks along the southern and northern boundaries, evidence of having been extended through field boundary removal during the C18. It is filled with oaks of varying ages from veteran trees to newly planted storm damage replacements, scattered across the whole park as individuals, groves and larger groups. The park is grazed by large herds of red and fallow deer. Oak Grove which lies to the north of the Hall is the largest group planting in the park and it is shown on the 1729 Tollemache survey. It contains some fine old trees. Approximately 700m to the west of the Hall and connected to the pleasure grounds by the remains of a Hawthorn Walk lies The Mount, a grass-covered man-made viewing point with a circular pool at its base and a brick Obelisk at its summit. The Mount was in place by the mid C17 and late C18 drawings hanging in the Hall show that it was by that time surmounted by a summerhouse and planted as a wilderness. The Hawthorn Walk is also shown clearly on these drawings by Hodskinson. The summerhouse was removed in the mid C19 and the bricks used to build the Obelisk. Although the early surveys do not show The Mount, they do show a pool in this location and The Mount itself is mentioned in an agreement between Richard Tollemache and his gardener dated 1661. To the south-east of the Hall is the double Oak Avenue, planted in 1730 as proposed on Richard Tollemarche's 1729 survey. Also in this quarter are four fishponds. The two largest (thought to be medieval, current owners pers comm 1998) lie at the base of the rise up to the church and are crossed by a causeway and red-brick bridge by John

Nash which date from c 1800 (listed grade II). The eastern part of the park, both north and south of the Hall, contains some very fine old oak pollards of a great age. The age of these trees was already being remarked upon by Neale in 1818, as was the large herd of deer. In the north-west corner, a small brick and flint bridge, described as 'new' in a document dated 1815 (Williamson 1995), crosses the stream at a point known as The Dell. Beside it stands a crooked oak, sketched by Constable in 1801. Beyond the north-east corner of the Hall is the stable block and coach house, built c 1800 (listed grade II) of red brick with a hipped slate roof. It is now used as a tea-room.

KITCHEN GARDEN

The kitchen garden covers 0.75ha within the south-west garden and is completely enclosed by a high red-brick wall (listed grade II), entered on the north-east and south-west faces by centrally placed, highly ornamental, wrought-iron gates. The garden is divided into eight equal sections, as depicted on the 1729 Tollemache survey and the 1802 Johnson survey. It continues to be used as a traditional ornamental kitchen garden, supplying fruit, vegetables and flowers for the Hall. The central north-east/south-west path is edged on each side by deep herbaceous borders, whilst the cross paths have smaller borders and are covered by iron arched tunnels for trailing vegetables and flowers. These cross paths are terminated by seats set into the flower borders which run around the inner walls. Beyond the tunnels are climbing roses which hide the vegetable areas. The internal walls of the garden are covered with trained fruit trees in variety.

Tea Rooms - Formerly Stables and Coach House

\cap	verview
$\underline{\circ}$	VUIVICW

Heritage Category:	Listed Building
Grade:	П
List Entry Number:	1033074
Date first listed:	22-Sep-1987
Statutory Address:	TEA ROOMS, FORMERLY S TABLES AND COACH HOUSE, 70 METRES NORTH OF HELMINGHAM HALL

<u>Details</u>

HELMINGHAM HELMINGHAM PARK TM 15 NE 4/88 Tea rooms, formerly Stables - and Coach House, 70m north of Helmingham Hall

<u>GV II</u>

Tea rooms, built c.1800 as a stable block and coach house for Helmingham Hall. Red brick, originally colourwashed, with a continuous band of gault brick at mid-height. Hipped slated roof with widely-spaced paired modillions beneath deep eaves; small C19/C20 chimneys of red brick. C19/C20 flat-roofed casement dormers; Centre range of 3 bays with slightly set-forward wings of 2 bays; each bay has a round arch of gauged brick, the spandrel infilled by smallpaned glazing. Shallow blind arcades: below a string course of gault brick are mid C20 small-paned casements. The centre bay and one other have original doors with multiple flush panels. The end elevations have triple arcades of similar design; at the east end each arch is filled by a pair of original panelled coach-house doors with radiating flush panels in the tympanum.

Gate Lodge

Overview	
Heritage Category:	Listed Building
Grade:	II
List Entry Number:	1240189
Date first listed:	16-Jan-1995
Date of most recent amendment:	16-Jan-1996
Statutory Address:	GATE LODGE, NORTH EAST OF HELMINGHAM HALL

<u>Details</u>

HUMINGHAM - TM15NE 4/10015 Gate Lodge, northeast of Helmingham Hall

$\underline{\mathrm{GV\,II}}$

Gate lodge. c1820, possibly designed by B. B. Catt of Ipswich. Brick with roofs of pantile. Two storeys with shallow-pitched, gable-facing range projecting from centre of long range with one window to either side. Octagonal stack at intersection of roof ridges. Windows flat arched with leaded casement lights, that to centre range, first floor with Tudor weathermoulding. Entrance below is pointed arched, with pointed-arched lancets flanking; door of original design. Early example of modestly scaled Tudor revival house. Forms a group with Helmingham Hall (qv).

8 Helmingham Hall - Appendix 1, April 2021

Bridge

Overview	
Heritage Category:	Listed Building
Grade:	II
List Entry Number:	1033075
Date first listed:	22-Sep-1987
Statutory Address:	BRIDGE, ABOUT 300 METRES EAST OF HELMINGHAM HALL

<u>Details</u>

HELMINGHAM HELMINGHAM PARK TM 15 NE 4/90 Bridge, about 300m east of Helmingham Hall

$\underline{\mathrm{GV\,II}}$

Bridge, probably c.1800 as part of works carried out at Helmingham Hall by John Nash. Red brick. Causeway about 4m wide. Tall semicircular arch, spanning a small stream. Parapets about 1m high with gabled brick copings; the parapets are splayed outwards at the approaches. Square terminal piers; these have pyramid finials with coped gables at the base, in a similar manner to the bridge piers in the moat surrounding Helmingham Hall. The bridge carries a path leading from Helmingham Hall to the Parish Church and is an important landscape feature of the Park.

Garden Wall

Overview

Heritage Category:	Listed Building
Grade:	II
List Entry Number:	1033071
Date first listed:	09-Dec-1955
Statutory Address:	GARDEN WALL, 70 METRES SOUTH WEST OF HELMINGHAM HALL

<u>Details</u>

HELMINGHAM HELMINGHAM PARK TM 15 NE 4/82 Garden wall, 70m south- west of Helmingham Hall 9.12.55

<u>GV II</u>

Garden wall; 1749, by Robert Rodwell, bricklayer, for the 4th Earl Dysart. Red brick, mainly in English bond; heavy gabled terracotta copings. The wall encloses a rectangular garden, about 100m x 70m. The north east side is open, but a screen wall spans the garden about 30m from the north east end. Main walls about 2.5m high; at each corner is a square pier surmounted by a limestone eagle. Central to the north west and south east walls are gateways with a pair of similar eagles on piers, and each with a wrought iron gate. The screen wall is about 2m high, with piers at 7m intervals, each surmounted by a limestone urn. At the centre of the wall is a gateway with wrought iron gate, side panels and crown; the heavy square piers each have a black winged horse's head, the Tollemache emblem. The walled garden is surrounded by a moat. Included as Grade I in the H.B.M.C. Register of Historic Parks and Gardens.

Revetment to Outer Bank of Moat Surrounding Hall

Overview

Heritage Category:	Listed Building
Grade:	II
List Entry Number:	1284918
Date first listed:	22-Sep-1987
Statutory Address:	REVETMENT TO OUTER BANK OF MOAT SURROUNDING HELMINGHAM HALL, AND TWO ATTACHED BRIDGES

<u>Details</u>

HELMINGHAM HELMINGHAM PARK TM 15 NE 4/81 - Revetment to outer bank of moat surrounding Helmingham Hall, and two attached bridges

$\underline{\mathrm{GV\,II}}$

Revetments to moat, c.1760. Each section is about 50m long. Red brick. On the north, east, and west arms, the walling rises about 0.5m above water level with a sawtooth band beneath a gabled coping. (Part of the east arm has Im high walling). On the south side the wall rises to about 2.5m above water level and has semi-circular brick on edge copings. At each corner is an obelisk surmounting a square pier. At the centre of the south side is a bridge in cast iron, added by John Nash (in the Gothick manner) c.1800. Octagonal brick piers rise from the moat to carry the main span. The elliptical arch beneath the bridge has open arched infill to the spandrels, and the sides of the platform have a quatrefoil frieze. Open arcaded balustrading. A short span connects the bridge to the south bank, but the drawbridge is the only link with the main gatehouse 2m to the north. A second near-identical bridge spans the east arm of the moat near the north end; its terminal piers on the east bank are octagonal and also by Nash.